No. 23-126005-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

HERITAGE TRACTOR, INC., Plaintiff-Appellant

VS.

EVERGY KANSAS CENTRAL, INC., Defendant-Appellee,

BRIEF OF APPELLANT HERITAGE TRACTOR, INC.

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable James R. McCabria, Judge District Court Case No. 2020-CV-000136

Court T. Kennedy, KS #22067 Gates Shields Ferguson Swall Hammond, P.A. 10990 Quivira, Suite 200 Overland Park, KS 66210 Telephone: 913.661.0222 Facsimile: 913.491.6398 CKennedy@gatesshields.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT HERITAGE TRACTOR, INC.

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Heritage Tractor, Inc., ("Heritage Tractor") owned and operated a farm machinery business located at 1110 East 23rd Street, Lawrence, KS 66046 ("the Property"). Defendant Evergy Kansas Central, Inc. f/k/a Westar Energy, Inc. ("Westar") owned a utility pole ("Subject Pole") that connected the Property to Westar's electrical distribution system.

Westar was authorized by the Kansas Corporation Commission ("KCC") to supply electric service for residential, commercial, and industrial uses, and for many years, Westar has been engaged in this proprietary function. Pursuant to its agreement with the KCC to supply electric service, Westar was required to maintain, repair, or replace, when necessary, all electric service facilities installed by Westar, including but not limited to, the Subject Pole.

On or about May 5, 2018, the Subject Pole collapsed and landed on the Property, causing a fire to erupt within the Property. Subsequent investigation revealed that the base of the Subject Pole had suffered significant decay, which compromised its strength and led to its subsequent collapse.

Heritage Tractor has alleged that Westar knew or should have known of the Subject Pole's dangerous condition, but they took no steps to repair or replace the Subject Pole or warn Heritage Tractor of the dangerous condition. Moreover, if Westar had taken the necessary steps to repair or replace Subject Pole, the Subject Pole would not have fallen. As a result of the fire, Heritage Tractor suffered damages in excess of \$3,000,000.00. Heritage Tractor sued Westar for negligence, breach of warranty and trespass, and Westar made several affirmative defenses, including that Heritage Tractor's claims are barred by the tariff Westar has with the KCC. Westar ultimately brought a motion to for summary judgment arguing that the tariff with the KCC barred Heritage Tractor's claims, and the District Court granted Westar's Motion.

Heritage Tractor filed this appeal seeking to have the District Court's Order reversed and the case remanded back to the District Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- Issue I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY PROVISION IN THE KCC TARIFF APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.
- Issue II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE KCC TARIFF WAS ENFORCEABLE UNDER KANSAS LAW WHEN THE APPLICATION OF THE KCC TARIFF'S LIMITED LIABILITY PROVISIONS CONSTITUTED AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL ABROGATION OF KANSAS LAW
- Issue III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE KCC TARIFF WAS NOT UNREASONABLE AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THE CASE.
- Issue IV. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WERE INSUFFICIENT FACTS TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF WANTON CONDUCT TO THE JURY.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Heritage Tractor owned and operated a farm machinery business located at 1110 East 23rd Street, Lawrence, KS 66046 ("the Property"). (R. Vol. I, p. 22) On May 5, 2018, a utility pole owed by Westar ("the Subject Pole") collapsed onto the Property causing a fire to erupt within the Property. (Id) (R. Vol. I, p.333) (Appendix Exhibit A)
- 2. Heritage Tractor has alleged that the base of the Subject Pole had suffered significant decay, which compromised its strength and led to its subsequent collapse. (R. Vol. I, p. 22-23) (R. Vol. I, p.328) (Appendix Exhibit A)

Condition of the Subject Pole:

- 3. The Subject Pole was approximately 50 years old at the time of its collapse. (R. Vol. II, p. 186)
- 4. The average expected life span of a wood utility pole is 53 years. (R. Vol. III, p. 62)
- 5. Heritage Tractor retained the services of Matthew Anderson, Wood Scientist, to investigate why the Subject Pole fell. (R. Vol. I, p. 415)
- 6. Mr. Anderson opined that, "(t)he entire cross section of the pole at the ground line contained advanced wood decay. As a result, there was virtually no remaining strength." (R. Vol. I, p. 418) (R. Vol. I, p.328) (Appendix Exhibit A)

- 7. Moreover, Mr. Anderson's investigation revealed no evidence that the Subject Pole had ever been inspected by Westar or any qualified subcontractor on behalf of Westar. (R. Vol. I, p. 418)
- 8. Mr. Anderson further opined that "(h)ad the pole been inspected following industry standards and specifications, this pole would have been identified for remedial treatment long in advance of failing." (R. Vol. I, p. 418)
- 9. Mr. Anderson's opinion is that the significant advanced decay at the groundline is what caused the Subject Pole to fail. (R. Vol. III, p. 26)

Westar's Expert Opinions:

- 10. Westar retained the services of Todd Shupe, Wood Scientist, to determine the amount of wood decay present in the Subject Pole. (R. Vol. I, p. 357) (R. Vol. I, p.328) (Appendix Exhibit A)
- 11. In addition to retaining the services of Mr. Shupe, Westar retained Nelson Bingel, the former Vice President of Product Strategy at Osmose Utilities Services, Inc., current chairmen at the NESC, and hired consultant for Westar in this matter. (R. Vol. I, p. 314-315)
- 12. In order to determine the amount of sound wood, Mr. Shupe took a wood awl and inserted it at various locations around the circumference of the Subject Pole at the spot he designated the groundline of the Subject Pole. (R. Vol. I, p. 360) Mr. Shupe explained that he "inserted the awl with sufficient force so that it would easily penetrate any decayed wood in the shell but stop

when it encountered solid wood in the center." (Id) When asked to quantify this amount of force applied, Mr. Shupe was unable to do so, and simply referenced using "reasonable" force. (R. Vol. I, p. 372) Nonetheless, he measured how far the awl was inserted at each spot and used those measurements to "calculate" the average amount of decay present around the circumference. (R. Vol. I, p. 360)

- 13. However, Mr. Shupe conceded that there is no article, treatise, or scientific literature on the use of an awl to quantitatively measure wood decay. (R. Vol. I, p. 382-383) Mr. Shupe admitted he had never performed such a test before in his over-20-year career as a wood scientist. (R. Vol. I, p. 370-371)
- 14. Nonetheless, those measurements were then provided to Westar's other expert, Nelson Bingel. (R. Vol. I, p. 330)
- 15. Using the circumference obtained by Mr. Shupe from the awl test performed, Mr. Bingel concluded that, based upon NESC standards, the Subject Pole complied with the NESC strength requirements. (R. Vol. I, p. 337)

Westar's Inspection Plan:

16. The KCC requires that, as a regulated Kansas electric utility, Westar have an "effective preventive maintenance system." (R. Vol. II, p. 372)

- 17. Westar admitted it only inspected poles within circuits that were lesser performing. (R. Vol. II, p. 190)
- 18. According to Westar, the Property was located in a well-performing service area (the Lawrence Service Area), and was not encompassed in these inspections prior to the time of the fire. (R. Vol. II, p. 308)
- 19. The standards in the industry are to inspect a utility pole every 10 years. (R. Vol. III, p. 68 and 72)
- 20. In 2017 Mr. Bingel testified that there was an industry standard for the frequency of pole inspections. (R. Vol. III, p. 35)
- 21. Mr. Bingel admitted that southern pine poles in Kansas should be inspected every ten (10) years. (Id)
- 22. Mr. Bingel acknowledged that the Westar inspection program did not meet the industry recommendation of inspecting southern pine poles every ten (10) years. (R. Vol. III, p. 36-37)
- 23. Pursuant to industry standards and specifications, the Subject Pole should have been inspected by Westar during its service life. (R. Vol. I, p. 418)

Tariff:

24. On or about February 25, 2014, the KCC and Westar entered into a tariff, which included a section on Limitations of Liabilities ("Westar Tariff").(R. Vol. II, p. 466-472)

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY PROVISION IN THE KCC TARIFF APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

A. Preservation of the Issue and Standard of Review

Heritage Tractor raised this issue in its Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. Vol. III, p. 9-10) The trial court found that the limitation of liability provision of the Westar Tariff was applicable to the facts of this case and granted Westar's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. Vol. III, p. 138)

The standard for reviewing summary judgment is well established and appellate courts apply the same rules as trial courts. "Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. When opposing a motion for summary judgment, an adverse party must come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact. In order to preclude summary judgment, the facts subject to the dispute must be material to the conclusive issues in the case. On appeal, we apply the same rules and when we find

reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied." *Drouhard-Nordhus v. Rosenquist*, 301 Kan. 618, 622, 345 P.3d 281 (2015)

B. None of the Limitation of Liability Subsections of the Westar Tariff Apply to the Facts of this Case.

Westar argues that it is insulated from any liability in this case by the General Terms and Conditions entered into with the Kansas Corporation Commission ("KCC"), filed on February 25, 2014. (R. Vol. II, p. 466-472) As done by other District Courts, this Court can interpret the Westar Tariff for itself as a matter of law. See, Grindsted Prod., Inc. v. Kansas Corp. Comm'n, 262 Kan. 294, 310, 937 P.2d 1, 11 (1997)

Kansas allows reasonable limitations on liability as part of the ratemaking process, but "the ultimate determination of whether a duly filed and approved tariff limiting a public utilities liability to its customers is reasonable is a question for the courts to decide." Danisco Ingredients USA, Inc. v. Kansas City Power & Light Co., 267 Kan. 760, 768, 986 P.2d 377, 384 (1999) Westar cites to three sections of the Westar Tariff that it believes limit Westar's liability in the present case by the willful or wanton conduct standard. Subsection, § 7.02(A), of the Westar Tariff states:

Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to supply steady and continuous Electric Service at the Point of Delivery. Company shall not be liable to customer for any loss, damage or injury whatsoever caused by or arising from Company's operations including loss, damage or injury occasioned by irregularities of or interruptions in Electric Service, leakage, escape or loss of electric energy after same has passed the Point of Delivery or for any other cause unless it shall affirmatively appear that the injury to persons or damage to property complained of has been caused by the Company's willful or wanton conduct.

(R. Vol. II, p. 466) Subsection, § 7.02(B), states:

Customer shall save Company harmless from all claims for trespass, injury to persons and damage to lawns, trees, shrubs, buildings or other property that may be caused by reason of or related to Company's operations, the provision of Electric Service hereunder and the installation, maintenance or replacement of Company's service lines or other facilities necessary to serve customer, unless it shall affirmatively appear that the injury to persons or damage to property complained of has been caused by the Company's willful or wanton conduct.

(R. Vol. II, p. 467) Subsection §7.02(C), states:

In accordance with its normal work procedures, Company shall exercise reasonable care when installing, maintaining and replacing Company's facilities located on customer's premises. However, beyond such normal procedures, Company assumes no responsibility for trespass, injury to persons or damage to lawns, trees, shrubs, buildings or other property that may be caused by reason of or related to" Company's operations, the provision of Electric Service hereunder or the installation, maintenance or replacement of Company's facilities to serve customer, unless it shall be shown affirmatively that the injury to persons or damage to property

complained of has been caused by Company's willful or wanton conduct.

(Id)

In its filings in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, Westar argues that subsections §7.02(A), §7.02(B) and §7.02(C) of the Westar Tariff all applied to the underlying facts in this case. (R. Vol. III, p. 96) At the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, counsel for Westar reiterated the claim that all three subsections of the Westar Tariff applied to the facts in this case. (R. Vol. IV, p. 4) However, when pressed by the District Court, counsel stated that if he had to pick one, and only one subsection that was most applicable, he would pick Subsection §7.02(C) as it "would seem to be the closest to the center of the bull's-eye, if you will." (R. Vol. IV, p. 5-6) Without any explanation in its written order, the District Court indicated that it was most persuaded that Subsection § 7.02(B) applied to the facts of this case. (R. Vol. III, p. 138) Notably, all three subsections purport to limit the liability of a utility provider unless the damages are the result of the utility provider's willful or wanton conduct.

Given that: (i) Westar believes all three subsections of the Westar Tariff apply to the facts of this case but that subsection §7.02(C) is most applicable, (ii) the District Court held that subsection §7.02(B) applies, (iii) and Heritage Tractor contends that none of the subsections apply, there can be little doubt that the various subsections are ambiguous. Legally

established tariffs are construed in the same manner as statutes and have the binding force and effect of law. See Farmland Indus., Inc., 29 Kan. App. 2d at 1043, 37 P.3d at 648; See also, Burdick v. Southwestern Bell Tel. Co., 9 Kan. App. 2d 182, 186, 675 P.2d 922, 925 (1984) Therefore, this Court can and should consider several rules or canons of statutory construction in order to resolve the ambiguity.

First, words and phrases shall be construed according to the context and the approved uses of the language. Kansas Statute 77-201. Second, a court "must construe a statute to avoid unreasonable or absurd results." *Arnett*, 307 Kan. at 654, 413 P.3d 787 as the court must presume the Legislature "does not intend to enact useless or meaningless legislation... Equally fundamental is the rule of statutory interpretation that courts are to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *State v. Frierson*, 298 Kan. 1005, 1013, 319 P.3d 515 (2014)

As noted above, Westar asserts that all three subsections of the Westar Tariff apply to the facts of this case. Such interpretation runs afoul of the canon that the Legislature does not intend to enact useless or meaningless legislation. Additionally, such broad interpretation of all three subsections that they all cover the same fact pattern would be absurd and unreasonable.

Heritage Tractor contends that Subsection, § 7.02(A), exclusively addresses damages incurred as a result of a failure to provide "steady and

continuous service." The first sentence of this subsection imposes an obligation on Westar to use commercially reasonable efforts to supply steady and continuous Electric Service; the next sentence limits the liability of the utility provider to customers for loss, damage, or injury occasioned by irregularities of or interruptions in Electric Service, leakage, escape or loss of electric energy after same has passed the Point of Delivery. The limitations of liability in this subsection all logically relate to the corresponding duty imposed on Westar provider to provide steady and continuous service.

Additionally, the last sentence in Subsection §7.02(A) addresses defects in a customer's wiring or appliance, which again relates to Westar's obligation to provide steady and continuous service. As such, subsection §7.02(A) is not applicable to the facts of this case.

Subsection §7.02(B) provides that:

Customer shall save Company harmless from all claims for trespass, injury to persons and damage to lawns, trees, shrubs, buildings or other property that may be caused by reason of or related to Company's operations, the provision of Electric Service hereunder <u>and</u> the installation, maintenance or replacement of Company's service lines or other facilities necessary to serve customer.

(emphasis added) (R. Vol. II, p. 467) Heritage Tractor contends this subsection limits the liability of Westar only in situations where Westar is installing, maintaining or replacing equipment necessary to serve a

customer. The use of the term "and" conjoins the two clauses. Under the required interpretation, the hold harmless clause applies only when Westar is installing, maintaining, or replacing services lines or other facilities necessary to serve a customer. The District Court did not address how subsection §7.02(B) applied to the facts of this case or what the use of the word "and" meant. (R. Vol. III, p. 138) As provided hereinabove, the present case did not involve damages caused while Westar was on the Property. As such, subsection §7.02(B) is not applicable to the facts of this case.

Subsection §7.02(C) is markedly and materially different from Subsections §7.02(A) and (B); those subsections apply only to customers, and they affirmatively limit the liability of Westar. Subsection §7.02(A) says the "Company shall not be liable to customer..." Subsection §7.02(B) requires the "(c)ustomer to hold the Company harmless from..." Subsection §7.02(C), however, is *not* limited to customers, nor does it affirmatively limit the liability of Westar. It says only that Westar "assumes no responsibility" for certain damages.

The first sentence of subsection §7.02(C) states that "(i)n accordance with its normal work procedures, Company shall exercise reasonable care when installing, maintaining and replacing Company's facilities located on a customer's premise. The second sentence, which begins "(h)owever, beyond such normal procedures, Company assumes no responsibility." A logical and

common sense reading of "normal work procedures" would mean that if and when Westar is doing ordinary, routine work, i.e., not emergency, unplanned work, it shall exercise reasonable care. That understanding of the phrase makes perfect sense in the context of the paragraph as a whole as the next sentence then means that if Westar is performing work *outside* its normal procedures, i.e., emergency or unplanned work, Westar does not assume responsibility for damages to persons or property unless those damages were caused by Westar's willful or wanton conduct. Presumably, this is due to the emergent nature of the work and the difficulty it would impose if it must be performed with reasonable care. For example, property may be damaged if the utility is focused on repairing downed powerlines as quickly as possible. If Westar is installing, maintaining, and replacing the Company's facilities located on a customer's premises pursuant to its normal work procedures, Westar must exercise reasonable care, i.e., avoid negligence. If Westar fails to use reasonable care in that situation, it is liable for the damages pursuant to a negligence standard.

In summary, subsection §7.02(A) addresses damages resulting from a failure to provide steady and continuous service. Subsection §7.02(B) addresses damages to the customer's property when the utility provide is installing, maintaining or replacing equipment *on* the customer's property. Subsection §7.02(C) addresses damages to a non-customer's property when

the utility provide is installing, maintaining or replacing equipment on the customer's property. As such, none of these subsections apply to the facts in this case.

If the fire at issue in this case were the result of failure to provide "steady and continuous service," Westar could have argued the subsection §7.02(A) limited its liability. Likewise, if the Subject Pole fell as a result of Westar working on the pole or knocking it over when it was working on the electrical line, i.e., as it had done six weeks prior to the fire, Westar could have argued that subsection §7.02(B) limited its liability. Finally, if the fire was the result of Westar installing, maintaining, or replacing equipment on an adjacent parcel, Westar might then argue subsection §7.02(C) applies.

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