# Case No. 23-126005-A

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

### HERITAGE TRACTOR, INC.,

# Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

#### EVERGY KANSAS CENTRAL, INC.,

Defendant-Appellee.

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE EVERGY KANSAS CENTRAL, INC.**

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas

Honorable James R. McCabria, Judge

District Court Case No. 2020-CV-000136

John T. Bullock, #15119

Stevens & Brand, LLP 900 Massachusetts St., Suite 500 Lawrence, KS 66044 Tel: 785-843-0811 Fax: 785-843-0341 JBullock@StevensBrand.com *Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee Evergy Kansas Central, Inc.* 

#

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

and not this court, to abrogate [the utility's] common law duty." 809 N.E.2d at 1273 (internal quotation omitted).

Thus, just like the Missouri Court of Appeals, the Illinois Supreme Court held that it is permissible to have limitations on liability for common law negligence claims. But in those cases the alleged liability was not eliminated by the tariffs in question.

Heritage includes a string of cases cited in *Adams*. (Heritage Br. at 25-26). In one of those cases, the Missouri Court of Appeals found that the plaintiff's allegations fell outside the tariff's ambit. *Adams*, 809 N.E.2d at 1272 (citing *Nat'l Food Stores, Inc. v. Union Elec. Co.*, 494 S.W.2d 379 (Mo. Ct. App. 1973)). In another case, a court held that the Oklahoma legislature had not expressed an intent that the filed-tariff doctrine abrogated a common law fraud claim against the utility. 809 N.E.2d at 1272 (citing *Satellite Sys., Inc. v. Birch Tel. of Okla., Inc.*, 51 P.2d 585 (Okla. 2002)). These and the other cited cases, however, do not address the situation presented here—a duly-adopted tariff expressly limiting the utility's liability for ordinary negligence, approved pursuant to a broad grant of statutory authority which, as the Kansas Supreme Court has held, gives the Commission power to approve precisely that type of limitation.

Citing *Adams*, Heritage also references the "Moorman doctrine," a principle of Illinois law limiting the recovery of purely economic damages in tort actions. (Heritage Br. at 28). In *Adams*, the Moorman doctrine appears in a block quote from an administrative proceeding in which a party requested that the commission approve liability limits for claims brought by its business partner's customers. *See* 809 N.E. 2d at 1270. The commission declined to do so, observing that the Moorman doctrine would

provide the company with sufficient liability protections even absent protections in the tariff. The Moorman doctrine sheds no light on the KCC's authority to limit a utility's liability for ordinary negligence in Kansas.

There is an important difference between the law in Kansas and the out-of-state cases cited by Heritage. In Kansas, statutes "in derogation of the common law" are not disfavored or construed strictly. The Kansas Legislature has directed that "the rule of the common law, that statutes in derogation thereof shall be strictly construed, shall not be applicable to any general statute of this state, but all such statutes shall be liberally construed to promote their object." K.S.A. 77-109. Thus in Kansas there is no barrier, but rather, a statutory *mandate* to give effect to duly-enacted statutes, even if they might be considered "in derogation of the common law." Accordingly, Kansas statutes and the KCC tariff (which is treated like a statute) must be "liberally construed to promote their object" and not strictly limited in favor of preexisting common law.

Heritage's out of state cases do not undermine *Danisco*'s holding that the KCC has authority to approve limitations on liability for ordinary negligence.

# **3.** The KCC Has Authority To Limit Liability For More Than Service Interruptions or Economic Damages Claims.

Heritage would have this Court cabin the holding of the Kansas Supreme Court in *Danisco* to service interruption and economic damages claims. But that is not what *Danisco* held. The Supreme Court expressly held that it was reasonable for a tariff to relieve an electric utility "of liability for *damages of any nature* resulting from the utility's own simple negligence." *Danisco*, 267 Kan. at 761 (emphasis added). Contrary

to Heritage's suggestion, *Danisco* was not focused on the type of damages alleged, but instead addressed the type of *duty* underlying the claim: a duty of ordinary care, for which liability limits are reasonable; or a duty to refrain from willful and wanton conduct, for which they are not. 267 Kan. at 761.

The rationale underpinning the *Danisco* decision—the broad authority given the KCC to manage public utility rates and thereby insure efficient and effective delivery of services—is not varied by the type of injury or the nature of damages a claimant might allege. The impact on rates is the same regardless of the type of injury or nature of damages. In fact, the rationale for the *Danisco* decision is even more compelling in the case of broader potential liability. As the Court noted, "reasonable rates are dependent in no small measure on rules limiting liability, for the broader the exposure, the greater the cost of electric service." 267 Kan. at 773. Narrowly circumscribing the limitation would dramatically undermine this objective—an objective the Kansas Supreme Court described as "sound as a matter of law" and "reasonable and sound public policy." 267 Kan. at 773-74.

This conclusion is bolstered by the cases that the Court cited in support of its holding. Some of the cited cases involved interruptions of service, while others did not. Some of the cases involved property damage, and one additionally involved personal injuries. *See Danisco*, 267 Kan. at 796 (citing *Pilot Indus. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel.* Co., 495 F. Supp. 356, 358 (D.S.C. 1979) (alleged faulty equipment and failure to list business in phone directories); *Olson v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 119 Ariz. 321, 323, 580 P.2d 782 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1978) (alleged failure to forward calls); *Prof'l Answering Service*,

Inc. v. Chesapeake Tel., 565 A.2d 55, 56 (D.C. 1989) (alleged defective equipment, ineffective service, and failure to maintain and repair system); Landrum v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 505 So.2d 552, 553 (Fla. Dist. App. 1987) (alleged interruption in electric power causing personal injuries and property damage); S. Bell Tel. Co. v. Invenchek, Inc., 130 Ga. App. 798, 800, 204 S.E.2d 457 (1974) (alleged curtailment of service); In re Ill. Bell Switching, 161 Ill. 2d 233, 244, 641 N.E.2d 440 (1994) (alleged failure to take adequate fire prevention measures followed by fire at utility facility and loss of service to customers); Bulbman, Inc. v. Nev. Bell, 108 Nev. 105, 108-09, 825 P.2d 588 (1992) (alleged negligence in advising customer about contemplated phone system purchase and subsequent sale of defective equipment to customer); Lee v. Consolidated Edison Co., 98 Misc. 2d 304, 306, 413 N.Y.S.2d 826 (N.Y. App. Term 1978) (alleged liability for summer blackout); Garrison v. Pac. Nw. Bell, 45 Or. App. 523, 531-32, 608 P.2d 1206 (1980) (alleged telephone directory error); Behrend v. Bell Tel. Co., 242 Pa. Super. 47, 74-75, 363 A.2d 1152 (1976) (alleged omission and errors in directory listings; disruption of telephone service), vacated and remanded, 473 Pa. 320, 374 A.2d 536 (1977), further proceedings at 257 Pa. Super. 35, 390 A.2d 233 (1978) (tariff not violative of state constitution); Sw. Bell Tel. Co. v. Rucker, 537 S.W.2d 326, 329 (Tex. App. 1976) (alleged voltage surge causing property damage and loss of service); Warner v. Sw. Bell, 428 S.W.2d 596, 599 (Mo. 1968) (alleged incorrect listing of business in telephone directories)). In each of these cases, the court followed the same principles embraced by Danisco-that limitations of liability are an essential part of the ratemaking function and will be enforced as to ordinary negligence.

This is the correct reading of *Danisco*, as confirmed by *Ottawa County Lumber & Supply, Inc. v. Sharp Electronics Corp.*, No. 03-4187-RDR, 2004 WL 813768 (D. Kan. Feb. 17, 2004) (unpublished decision). In that case, plaintiff alleged that defective wiring installed by defendant Southwestern Bell Telephone Company helped to cause a fire that destroyed plaintiff's business. 2004 WL 813768, at \*1. The court, following *Danisco*, granted Southwestern Bell's motion to dismiss based upon the limitation of liability in its tariff. 2004 WL 813768, at \*3-4. The court stated: "Therefore, in accord with *Danisco Ingredients*, we find that the disclaimers of liability contained in [the tariffs] are valid and enforceable insofar as they disclaim liability for simple negligence." 2004 WL 813768, at \*4. This holding—in a faulty wiring and property damage case—illustrates that *Danisco* is not restricted to claims of service interruption or purely economic losses.

Heritage's proffered limitations to the *Danisco* holding also gloss over the difference between the existence of a legal duty and the nature of injury or type of damages claimed. A limitation on liability for ordinary negligence addresses the duty owed, not the types of injury or damages that might result from a breach of that duty. "The 'cause of action' is the wrong done, not the measure of compensation for it, or the character of relief sought." *Schmeck v. Shawnee*, 231 Kan. 588, 590, 647 P.2d 1263 (1982) (internal quotation omitted). "Damage is not the cause of action. It is merely part of the remedy which the law allows for the injury resulting from a breach or wrong." 231 Kan. at 590.

In situations where a tariff eliminates liability for ordinary negligence, ordinary negligence does not give rise to a cause of action. Absent a cause of action, the type of

injury or nature of damages are not a factor. "[T]he cause of action is based not upon the existence of damages alone, but must be based upon the existence of actionable negligence, the breach by the defendants of some duty owed to the plaintiff, resulting in plaintiff's injury." *Schmeck*, 231 Kan. at 590.

Finally, *Danisco* approved limitations on liability for the utility "in connection with delivery of the services." *See* 267 Kan. at 771. If the Court had intended to limit its holding to "service interruptions," or to claims for economic damages, it easily could have said so. But the Court did not say so because the grant of authority to the KCC is very broad and the rationale for the liability limitation is not affected by the type of injury or the nature of the alleged injuries.

In short, nothing in *Danisco's* ruling, reasoning, or rationale would support an effort by this Court to create exceptions to, or limitations on, that precedent. The authority of the KCC to authorize limitations on liability for ordinary negligence is a settled question in Kansas.

# C. The Tariff Is Not An Unconstitutional Abrogation of The Common Law.

To the extent Heritage now seeks to assert a constitutional claim, Heritage did not raise that issue below. Heritage does not develop the argument in its appellate brief. A constitutional challenge to the Tariff is not properly before this Court.

Because the constitutional aspects of the argument are not developed, Westar is unsure what Heritage seeks to argue in this regard. In an abundance of caution, however,

Westar will attempt to touch on the substance of Heritage's constitutional "argument," although Westar can only speculate what that might be.

# 1. Heritage Did Not Argue The Tariff's Constitutionality Below; Heritage Has Not Developed The Issue On Appeal; The Issue Is Not Properly Before This Court

Whether a party has preserved an issue for appeal is a question of law over which the appellate court exercises unlimited review. *Johnson v. Bd. of Dirs. Of Forest Lakes Master Ass 'n*, 61 Kan. App. 2d 387, 393, 503 P.3d 1038 (2021).

Heritage did not preserve a constitutional challenge to the Tariff. Heritage's Petition does not allege a constitutional violation. (R. II, 21-25). Heritage's briefing on the motion for summary judgment did not argue the tariff is unconstitutional. (R. III, 2-20). The word "constitution" and its derivatives, such as "unconstitutional," appeared nowhere in Heritage's brief below. (*See* R. III, 2-20). During oral argument on the motion for summary judgment, no one uttered the words "constitutional" or "unconstitutional" (or anything similar). (*See generally* R. IV). The district court's ruling on summary judgment did not address any constitutional claim. (R. III, 137-143). The district court adjudicated the argument the way Heritage presented it, as a question of the KCC's authority and the enforceability of the Tariff. (R. III, 137-140).

The first time Heritage asserted that the Tariff was unconstitutional was on appeal. But even now, the issue has not been developed. Heritage's "argument" on this point goes no further than to insert the word "unconstitutional" at two places in its brief, with no elaboration or even a citation to any provisions of the federal or state constitutions.

It is a fundamental rule of appellate procedure that issues not raised before the trial court cannot be raised on appeal. *Miller v. Bartle*, 283 Kan. 108, 119, 150 P.2d 1282 (2007). Issues that have not been adequately briefed are deemed waived or abandoned. *State v. Willis*, 312 Kan. 127, 146, 475 P.3d 324 (2020). A point raised only incidentally in a brief, but not argued, is also waived or abandoned. *Manhattan Ice & Cold Storage, Inc. v. City of Manhattan*, 294 Kan. 60, 71, Syl. **P** 1, 274 P.3d 609 (2012). "Failure to support an argument with pertinent authority or to show why it is sound despite a lack of supporting authority or in the face of contrary authority is akin to failing to brief the issue." *Friedman v. Kan. State Bd. of Healing Arts*, 296 Kan. 636, 645, 294 P.3d 287 (2013).

Constitutional issues presented for the first time on appeal are not properly before an appellate court. *See Miller*, 283 Kan. at 119. Ordinarily, constitutional challenges will not be considered unless they were alleged in the pleadings or presented at trial. *Vaughn v. Murray*, 214 Kan. 456, 461, 521 P.2d 262 (1974). Barring exceptional circumstances, a court will only hear constitutional questions that are "duly raised and insisted upon and are adequately argued." *State ex rel. Osborn v. Richardson*, 174 Kan. 382, 390, 256 P.2d 135 (1953).

In opposing Westar's motion for summary judgment, Heritage argued that the tariff was "unenforceable as it abrogates the common law without the necessary legislative authorization." (R. III, 2). The heading to Heritage's argument on this point states: "The Westar Tariff is Unenforceable to the Extent it Abrogates Common Law." (R. III, 11). Heritage addressed the KCC's authority to adopt tariffs, discussed the holding in *Danisco*, and asserted that the Kansas Legislature "did not delegate it [sic] ability to abrogate common law to the KCC." (R. Vol III, 13). Heritage concluded its argument as follows: "As such, the KCC did not have the ability to revoke Heritage's right to sue Westar for common law negligence. The Westar Tariff, to the extent it attempts to limit Heritage's common law rights, is unenforceable." (R. III, 14). The argument is plainly about the KCC's authority, not a violation of the state or federal constitution.

In *Friedman*, the plaintiff waived a constitutional challenge because he did not adequately explain how particular rulings against him resulted in due process violations. 296 Kan. at 646. Similarly, in *State v. Sprague*, 303 Kan. 418, 424-25, 362 P.3d 828 (2015), the State's briefing on the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel was "sparse" and cited only one case; the Court concluded that the issue was inadequately briefed and thus abandoned. In *National Bank of Andover v. Kansas Bankers Sur. Co.*, 290 Kan. 247, 281, 225 P.3d 707 (2010), Kansas Bankers Surety (KBS) asserted the trial court abused its discretion in ordering a new trial. In its appellate brief, however, KBS did not develop arguments to challenge all three alternative grounds for new trial. 290 Kan. at 281.The Court held that "a fleeting reference to two of the three reasons" the trial court granted a new trial was "insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal." 290 Kan. at 281.

Heritage had every opportunity to raise a constitutional challenge below, but did not. Westar had no opportunity to develop a record on a constitutional claim, and the trial court did not rule on it. The constitutional issue is not developed in Heritage's appellate brief. Heritage can offer no valid basis for this Court to depart from the well-settled rules providing that a constitutional issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, and that

an issue not sufficiently developed in the briefing is not properly before the Court. The Court should refuse to consider any constitutional challenge as part of this appeal.

### 2. The Tariff Does Not Unconstitutionally Abrogate the Common Law

Heritage does not explain how the Tariff ostensibly violates any provision of the federal or state constitutions. Therefore, Westar can only speculate concerning the nature of Heritage's bare assertion that the Tariff is "unconstitutional."

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